
                          FROM TUSCAN HERMITS TO ENGLISH FRIARS


After an absence of four hundred and twenty five years the Augustinian friars returned to Clare Priory in 1953, to what had been their first house in England and the English speaking world. The absence, initiated by agents of Henry VIII in 1538, may have been longer than their original presence but the returning friars found several elements of the medieval priory to form the ‘returned’ friary. The name and identity of the original owners, Augustinian Priory, still clung on; the Prior’s house had been adapted as a family home and the infirmary and dormitory building had been adapted as a barn. One complete wall of the church still stood and the cloisters were basically intact. Once again there is a community presence running a parish and retreat centre. 

[bookmark: _GoBack]Clare today is a quiet village backwater but in medieval times the Priory stood close to Clare Castle, summer home of the very powerful de Clare family, who in turn were descended from one of the most powerful barons who came to England at the time of the Conquest in 1066.  Richard de Clare, Earl of Clare, 5th Earl of Hertford, 6th Earl of Gloucester had invited the friars to take up the mandate of Pope Innocent IV, Why did he do so?  Perhaps he was prodded by an acquaintance with the hermit’s protector, Cardinal Annibaldi; maybe King Henry III, an ardent supporter of the Mendicant movement, encouraged their arrival.  To arrive in Clare in 1249 they had to have been directed to this location. The Canons Regular of St. Victor and the Lateran Cathedral Canons of St. Augustine, following the Norman Conquest of England in 1066, in the late 11th century, were the most numerous of the orders in England and had two hundred houses throughout the country including among the de Clare his estates. Familiarity with the name or perhaps the novelty of the new mendicant element may have attracted Richard’s attention. It is possible too that he had met some Tuscan friars who had extended over the Alps into his estates in South West France.  Perhaps it was a recommendation from the factor of his French estates. We can continue to speculate as to why the friars extended so quickly into England, but we do know that the invitation did not come with a grant of land. Most landowners were becoming reluctant to give lands to the Church, as they were not re-cycled and stayed in the Church’s clutches. Evidently, Richard was a sympathizer of this sceptical view of the Church in general. On arrival in Clare the friars had nothing. They must have struggled at first, but their struggle appears to have aided their cause. Only on Richard’s death did his wife Maud give the hermit friars land beneath the castle walls and alongside the River Stour. (This land may formerly have been in the hands of Benedictine monks who had relocated a few miles upstream to establish a foundation at Stoke by Clare.)

Who were these first few friars? What was their outlook? What did they intend?  They had made radical changes to their lives, from dwelling in quiet remote ‘hermitages’ with a limited pastoral outlet they came to minister in towns. This sacrifice of relative solitude for towns must have been a monumental change in their life-style, as was their change of surroundings. Gone was their solitude to be replaced by the noise and smells of town life. They appear to have adapted to a quite obvious need for more education among themselves to satisfy the needs of more educated population in towns; the days of lay hermits ministering to local, rural congregations was over. One implication was that they had obviously to have more priests in their communities for sacramental requirements.  The clash between ‘old’ life and ‘new’ was not settled overnight – the first two houses in England show one of each – busy Clare, quiet isolated Woodhouse.  The fact is, the Hermit Friars of St. Augustine, as the Order was to be named, had arrived and stayed. Their early origins are a fascinating story.

The late Middle Ages were to see a slow economic improvement. Europe’s population, reckoned to be forty-six million in 1050 had risen to an estimated seventy-three million by 1300. (Marin, The Augustinians: p83) While the vast majority of people still lived in the countryside, new wealth and population growth enabled towns to develop. Signs of the growth and wealth are evident in the city walls that remain today, in the great cathedrals of Northern Europe and later the so called large ‘wool churches’ of Eastern England. Clare has such a parish church. Towns developed and population expanded. Agricultural methods were improved and yields increased, so that urban populations could be sustained. Townspeople desired education to facilitate trade and more. The urban clergy were often poorly educated and distracted by family concerns and the benefits of new wealth One offshoot of new wealth and urban development was that amidst “the social changes and transformations of city life many heretical groups’ with a strong sense of moral reform and socio-political protest against clericalism within the Church,’ sprang up.  Many were…. usually fervent Christians convinced of being in the right ……they were strongly critical of the economic and political power of the popes and prelates; they were strong supporters of apostolic life, which they understood as a return to evangelical simplicity and poverty. “[109 Marin] As said above, Secular clergy in the towns usually lacked the education required to combat the heretics, while their lifestyle offered little evangelical inspiration..

The early Franciscan friars and the Order of Preachers became the first wave of what one could term a new Church led revolutionary movement. But more were needed. In the countryside of Tuscany, and similar remote areas, there were groups ready for such needs of the church, hermits and ascetics. They just had to be organized and prepared to travel.

The temptation to use them must have been great for the Papacy. It would be a way of limiting Episcopal opposition: thus mendicant orders were granted ‘exemption ‘ from diocesan control. One unseen benefit was to be the improving educational status of the clergy and more effective way of combatting heresy. Practically speaking, there was also a need to end disputes among the hermits themselves and with the new Mendicant Orders, especially the Franciscan Friars. 
[p128 Marin} The intellectual, pastoral, spiritual and even the moral limitations of the secular clergy offered fertile ground for the appearance of extremists and heretics. Here was another temptation for the Papacy to encourage the Mendicant orders, as very early in their history both the Franciscans and Dominicans showed a preference for higher education among their ranks.  The Dominicans had their early headquarters in the heartland of the Albigensian heresy. 

From the very beginning the mendicants accepted the special obligation of proclaiming the word of God and found enthusiastic support in the Apostolic See.  Unlike monks, sequestered in abbeys, the friars were itinerant, imitating the free spirit of the apostles and of Christ himself. They went from town and cities proclaiming the Good News and calling for conversion. This new movement fed a need in society and met with enthusiastic response. An in house indication of this is that by the early 1340s the OESAs had grown from 61 houses at the Little Union in 1244 to over 1,000 houses.  {Thomas of Strasbourg ordered a print of over 1,000 copies of the Constitutions – one per community. ] By then most of the original hermitages had been abandoned. In less than a hundred years they had shed one way of life and adopted a fundamentally different one for the sake of the Church.

So who were these first friars who left hermitages for friaries? The one binding spirit was that of Augustine, in the form of his Monastic Rule, guiding their lives. There is no unbroken link back to Augustine’s monastery in Hippo or to the many imitators in North Africa.  The fact is that many copies of the rule existed in monastic libraries in Spain, France and Italy. Fr. Lowery OSA quoting the ex Fr. General of the Order of St. Augustine,  Fr.Miguel Orcasitas, says: “Augustinian monasticism for many centuries was hidden in the shadows …. but Augustine’s spirituality did not disappear  … it continued to survive in the Rule that was in existence throughout the whole period.” The abundance of ancient manuscripts of the rule throughout the early Middle Ages shows the interest in it, although it was overshadowed by other rules, particularly that of St. Benedict, - which itself shows Augustinian inspiration in parts. Benedict’s Rule, from the time of the founding of the great Abbey of Cluny, came to dominate monastic life. Benedictine monasteries influenced by the 11th Century Hilderbrandine reforms, were to be large, richly patronized and located purposely in remote areas. Thus geographically they were not fitted to serve the ‘new’ towns springing up in the 13th century.  In terms of society the abbeys did depend on large numbers of lay-brothers; that is they were able to attract from the masses of the uneducated population.  But they were rarely ready or in place to help urban centres.

The 12th century produced its own movement in the form of the Canons Regular. These were Capitulary Priests of the cathedrals who desired to live a communitarian way of life but with more freedom than that offered by St. Benedict. They were to find their direction in the Rule of St. Augustine.  This way of life spread beyond the cathedrals spawned by loosely organized canons, such as the Premonstratensians.  The Canons Regular were so well thought of in papal circles that they were entrusted with the tomb of Augustine in Pavia. They were of course an educated group of men. Dominic Guzman and Anthony of Padua were canons before they became such significant personages in the mendicant movement that followed. But these two figures are indications of a restless spirit that was not being satisfied even by the Canons..

 Another alternative movement emerged, formed of ordinary people who desired smaller units than the monasteries offered. Not for them the rich rituals of monasteries nor the busy life of Cathedral communities. They looked for an ascetic way of life and yet one serving the needs of local people in remote areas. They were people who survived from their own work, preaching and offerings:  People who strove to imitate the first Christian community of Jerusalem, “of one mind and heart” as found in Acts 4:32: People, Marin would say (p124)  who were yearning for “ a life …deepening the experience of love and the unity in love of those who are truly brothers”  ….men “sharing the needs of the people closely and being available to them.” To follow Christ one had to free oneself from every attachment …. Yet it was important to evangelize this world and to open oneself up to the apostolate as a response to Christ’s commandment.” (Mt 28:19 – 20.) These were the hermits, not solitaries as the modern term implies, but men who lived in small like-minded communities in places apart, off the beaten track.  

The oldest foundations appeared in the late twelfth century in the Tuscan hills around Siena, Lucca and Pisa.  Samples of these ‘Eremos’ can still be found in the hills near modern day Siena, such as that of Eremo di San Leonardo al Lago, Lecceto, or Santa Lucia at Rosia or at Montespecchio. I dwell on these because the pattern of buildings they exhibited was copied in the early foundations in England. The first two have been restored, the latter are ruins. San Leonardo was on a wooded hillside near Lake Verano. There were two cloisters, one of stone, the other of wood. The community cells were along the walls of the stone cloister. At its peak it housed 47 friars. As it was on a strategic site on the route to Siena it was fortified with strong walls and defence towers. The nearby dwellers could come inside for protection when bandits and marauding troops were in the vicinity. Agostino Novello, who had a major role in composing the first Constitutions and who was Prior General, came from this community. He came back here to spend his final years. The Church lies on an East – West axis along one side of the cloister. The refectory was once much larger and adjoins the west end of the church.  Lecceto was nearby and probably older. It too was a double cloistered set of buildings. It assumed the rule of Augustine in 1244. Its name is taken from leccio a type of oak tree, and describes its situation even today. Friars from other houses of the order were to seek shelter here in order to follow a more contemplative life. Among their number was William Flete, an Englishman from Cambridge University, who became a master of the spiritual life and a personal confidant to St. Catherine of Siena.. Today it is a thriving place of prayer and reflection, home to a community of contemplative Augustinian sisters.  

From Tuscan hermitages  one advances to nearby San Gimignano; its planning shows all the monastic elements in miniature that were to be typical of our friaries. Here, the friars were welcomed by the town council and land and building materials were provided by them.  This warm relationship still exists.  At the heart is the cloister, which unites the house and church with its two floors of arches and walkways. The linking wings used to house the chapter hall, calefactory, kitchens, dining room, and silentium – where the friars could wash their hands before entering the dining room . The other side of the cloister housed the foresteria, or hospice, as well as workshops. The upper floor provided the friar’s cells. San Gimignano shows how houses of the post union Order of Hermits of St. Augustine adapted to urban locations, as against the remote hermitages housing mainly lay communities. A mixture of these old and new plans was initially found among the English foundations but that of the style found in San Gimignano came to dominate., because the life-style, personnel and location had changed radically.


 In the midst of this burgeoning friar movement St. Francis had changed the face of the Church with his Order. Dominic Guzman’s Order of Preachers buttressed the movement that so captured the popular imagination.  The late medieval strands of population and economic growth, the chivalrous sense of adventure among the great land-owners, the expansion of existing towns and cities and the emergence of new towns, greater trading movements, and the cry for education and quality preaching hit society and the Church. The new orders seemed to provide some of the urgently needed answers. The Papacy was impressed. But as rapidly as the Franciscans and Dominican Orders, grew these first two Mendicant Orders were not enough. The Papacy was well aware of the “Hermit’ movement in Tuscany, it couldn’t fail to be.. For example, in 1228 thirteen hermitages in Tuscany came together to form the Congregation of Lucca. In 1231 the communities at Lecceto and Montespecchio asked Pope Gregory IX (1227 – 1241)for a rule. (Lecceto was one of six hermitages to predate 1200 and may in fact date back to 1144 when it was granted a privilege by Pope Lucius IV. -  F. Roth) In 1240 the papacy was drawn into a clash between the Franciscans and Zanboninis and Brettini friars over similarity of attire. The Bishop of Siena was told by the Pope ‘to extend the rule of Augustine to all hermits in that region’ thus giving the impression that already the papacy regarded all the hermits as one.  Pope Innocent IV (1243 – 1254) charged Cardianal Richard Annibaldi with making factual this union of Tuscan  hermits in  the ‘Little Union” of 1244 by the papal bull Incumbit Nobis..

The choice of this cardinal was crucial in the history of the Augustinian Order. Not only did he survive until 1276, serve nine popes, but he also took his role as Protector of the Order seriously, despite the distractions of papal and political machinations. He was a shrewd diplomat. It was his links with Henry III of England that channeled the hermits to that country in 1248. Aided by Cistercian monks he even designed the habit worn by the Order of Hermits of St. Augustine in Tuscia post 1244 of a black tunic, leather belt and white scapular. (Strangely, a reversal of the Cistercian habit!) Significantly, they were still to carry a staff, the sign of a hermit. 

By 1250 and before the General Chapter of Cascina in 1250, the Hermits had crossed the English Channel. Had they come from Tuscany? Probably not.  The more likely starting point was either Belgium or Southern France. (Augustiniana 1952 Vol.2 F. Roth) The Hermits were also known to be in Germany and Spain. But of that more anon. Annibaldi’s influence transplanted Augustinian monasticism into other parts of Europe as an off-shoot of his diplomacy work for the Papacy.  The rate of spread is in itself a testimony to the enthusiasm of the new order and an abundance of vocations.  It was the Cardinal, who under the orders of Pope Alexander IV, summoned delegates of the hermits of the Order of St. Augustine in Tuscia, the Hermits of St. William, the Hermits of St. John Bono, the Hermits of Brettino and the Hermits of Monte Favale  to Santa Maria del Popolo, in Rome, for a General Chapter. The papal bull Licet Ecclesiae Catholicae confirmed their union. The Order Of Hermits of St. Augustine had been formed by order of the pope.  In time they were to be granted the full privileges of being one of the four Mendicant Orders with the Franciscans, Dominicans and Carmelites. 

Their arrival in England was not accompanied by fanfares. They slipped in and quietly took up Richard de Clare’s invitation. He had had several dealings with Annibaldi at King Henry IIIs behest, as the king sought to pursue an interest in the kingdom of Naples and Sicily initially for his brother, Richard of Cornwall, and latterly for his son Edward. The meeting of two very influential men, Cardinal Annibaldi and Richard de Clare, who it seems quickly found mutual respect and understanding, was to prove significant for the future prospects of the new Order  in England. The Cardinal obtained favours in return for his diplomacy among which was the invitation to the hermits to come to England. On September 3rd 1249 King Henry issued a welcome to the Friar Hermits of the Order of St. Augustine to England. And “expressed the wish (F. Roth – A history of the English Austin Friars – p 146) that they shall stay in his land and that good be done to them by everyone.” The king showed a friendly disposition towards all mendicant friars,” says Roth “(p18 -19) Regarding the date of ‘first’arrival,  Roth does actually quote a court case involving the Winchester Priory which would pre-date the friar’s arrival to the 12th century,: secondly he cites an enquiry on the king’s behalf as to a grant of a chapel of St. Lawrence to the friars at Clayanger in 1227. Roth however casts doubt on the dating of the former and wonders about the latter.  The Franciscans at their Chapter of Stamford in 1239 welcomed the arrival of the Augustinians. The letter of welcome though refers to the OESAs. Evidently, a mistake! 

The friars experienced a sudden expansion in Belgium pre 1256 and opened houses in Bruges, Hassett, Louvain, Mailines and Maestricht. The first friars to reach England most likey came from these houses. John Capgrave claims that Richard de Clare’s father, Gilbert, had proposed four sites for the Hermit friars but only Clare and Woodhouse were founded.  This claim is shadowy. We do know that the Mayor of London, Adam Basyng, wrote “1250 beganne de ordre of the Freres Augustyns’ in the Great Chronicle of London. Matthew Paris also says 1250. The first recorded English born friar, William Sengham, is noted in 1252: Roth, Hackett and others believe he had probably joined abroad and came in with the early group of friars.

As for the first two houses, Clare and Woodhouse, both in de Clare estates, they exhibit very contrasting sites. The second foundation of the two, Woodhouse, in its very remoteness harkened back to the Pre-Union hermitages.  It was small being built to house only twelve men. It was two miles outside a small village called Cleobury Mortimer in Shropshire. From its early existence it gained a name for strict observance.  
Clare, however was next to a fairly substantial castle of one of the greatest Lords of the realm. There would have been a lot of goings and comings. It was close to the pilgrim routes to the Marian shrine of Walsingham and that to Canterbury with its shrine of St. Thomas A Beckett, the Martyr. Strangely, little was done for the friars until Richard’s death in 1262. His widow Maud set out to right matter and used her significant powers to persuade landowners with adjacent land to the friary to hand them over. The friars were then able to surround their land with drainage ditches and flood defences that could also serve as fisheries. The estates factor of the de Clare’s, Sir Roger de Scaccario, was affiliated to the Order due to his land grant of the immediate land for the friary. The buildings were of flint and mortar. Flint, a very hard form of silica, was abundant in the local East Anglian chalky clays. It was a hindrance to farmers and an ideal building material for castles, churches and priories.  The present narthex to the modern church was built in the thirteenth century as the ‘dorter ‘or dormitory over the Infirmorum, which tells us of one of the roles performed by the friars, that of looking after the sick and old as well as pilgrims. The cloister is largely intact as are the kitchens and prior’s house, although the latter was a fifteenth century Tudor building. At its peak the priory housed thirty friars, who earned their living as mendicants, from preaching, chantry masses and offerings. Mass-offerings were provided by wealthy landowners and merchants. These men also desired to be buried in friars’ cemeteries. Lay brothers farmed their land and minded the orchard and fishery. Due to its connection with the de Clare’s it was to have many royal links as well. Over the years King Edward I’s daughter, Joan of Acre, was buried here: Prince Lionel, first Duke of Clarence, and his wife Elizabeth, a de Clare, were also buried in the large priory church and had endowed two chapels. The prior was classed with the landed gentry and expected to hunt with them: but that lies in later centuries., possibly when the enthusiasm had waned!

Francis Roth in his volume, The English Austin Friars 1249 – 1538, says of the  Augustinian Hermits of Tuscany, “ they retreated from the world to attain a full union with God. They were so rich in vocations and so filled with enthusiasm for their way of life that they were prepared to expand overseas. England seemed to be a fertile field for this mode of life.“  Clare and Woodhouse were not to remain the only houses of the friars for very long. A move to the capital and largest city was seen as essential and so the London foundation may have been set up as early as 1252. By 1289 it held sixty-three friars.  Lord Humphray de Bohun was their very powerful patron and was buried before the high altar. 

A significant phase for the Order followed. The Mendicants, certainly the Franciscans, Dominicans and Augustinians, were soon involved in higher education. Priests with education in scripture and the sacraments were required, to feed the needs of urban populations.  To us today that seems extraordinarily basic, but many urban and parochial clergy had very little to offer. A friar preacher had sometimes to preach for up to two hours, entertain with scripture stories and inspire at the same time, while his brothers sold produce from their land. This was a vital source of their income. In a strange way it also shows community in action.  

Candidates within the Order, other than lay brothers, were divided into those for saying mass and singing office, while the elite were sent for graduate work. The role of main preacher in a house was coveted but required education levels associated with the new Studia Generale. Second only to Paris was Oxford.  The friars established a house in Oxford in 1266 and soon their buildings were part of the educational scene and used by the University. Henry III gave a grant towards the building costs – which meant of course that the nobility copied. Giles of Rome obtained his Doctorate in Paris in 1283. William of Hegham was the first OESA Doctor of Divinity in Oxford in 1292. The zeal of the friars for learning was very evident. Cambridge University, as dated by Benedict Hackett OSA in his Cambridge Statutes, was a slightly younger university, but the Augustinian foundation was in full operation by 1289.  Once again the buildings rapidly became an integral part of University functioning. The patron, states F. Roth, was one George Picheford, a high official of King Edward I. When one thinks about the advances in and changes of mentality from both the Little Union and The Grand Union, one can have nothing but admiration for the generosity of those hermits in 1244 and 1256. Their world was turned upside down. Who would have foreseen a hermit friar with a doctorate? The rest of society benefited immensely.  

The topography of the typical priory in England copied that of their mainland European confreres. Most of the houses were in the suburbs, not within the town walls. Usually the buildings were built around a courtyard that Roth refers to as “The Paradise.” I presume he means the cloister. Churches were long and narrow. Clare church was 180 feet long. One wonders where were the people to fill it came from? Then one remembers the winters and the role of preaching. Most of our churches had a bell tower over the nave, and a choir as a divide in the middle. The chapter house, church and calefactory were very close together. Night stairs linked the dormitory to the church choir. If there were two cloisters, the inner one was for community-  members only. Here the friars would gather ready to enter the choir for prayers or the refectory for meals. The cemetery would be adjacent to the buildings. All these buildings were enclosed within a protective wall. A substantial gateway controlled entry and exit. The 1300s still experienced bands of beggars, soldiers and thieves. The popularity of the friars is attested to by the frequency of their names occurring hundreds of year after the suppression in 1538. In London the Dutch Reform church stands on part of our large site, in what is called Austin Friars: significantly, so does the Stock Exchange. Some of the houses, such as Tickhill, founded in 1256, had a farm. Most had gardens. Great care was taken to provide good drinking water. All very practical but important.

The province initially had been united to France. In documentation dated 1260, John of Gubbio, presumably Italian by birth, was called the “Vicar General” of France and England. By 1265 John of Gubbio was Vicar General of France only. The English houses, this would seem to imply, had become a circumscription in its own right. The new province for practical reasons divided itself into four Limits, each with a study centre called a Studium Generale Provinciae, found at Lincoln, York, Norwich and Leicester, where philosophy and theology were taught. Candidates to the Order had to have attained fourteen years of age. The novitiate year was spent in the community they joined. Then they were sent to study Grammar and Philosophy at the appropriate student house for their limit. Bright candidates were earmarked for the Studuim Generale. Friars had to pass a test imposed by the provincial before he would forward their names to a bishop for the grant of faculties. 
 
Not all the friars of course sought the academic cloisters.  From Clare the friars expanded throughout the East Anglian area, a cultural unit, to Huntingdon in 1258; followed by Lynn – quite  a substantial community – in 1259. Gorleston on the coast followed in 1277, Norwich in 1289, Orford and Grimsby in the  1290’s. The significant cities of York and Lincoln had foundations in 1270 and 1272. A house was also founded in Canterbury, the ecclesiastical headquarters.

Royal favours sometimes came at a price and King Edward I, wanting not only to control the North of England but also to pave a route to conquering and subduing Scotland, compelled the Order to expand to places such as Berwick, on the Scottish Border, Penrith on the river Eden, upstream of the border cathedral city of Carlisle, and its East Coast equivalent at Newcastle. Only the latter really prospered, in fact post 1538 it survived the dissolution and was reserved as a residence for royal purpose.  Woodhouse was soon passed in importance by Ludlow and Shrewsbury, both founded in 1254, and a more northerly house in Warrington in 1259.  The Order was expanding rapidly in England and soon friars would enter Wales and Ireland, where coincidentally the de Clare’s also held lands. By 1300, only 44 years after the Great Union or fifty one year after the first friar stepped ashore, the Friar Hermit of St. Augustine, simply termed the ‘Austins’ or ‘Austin Friars’ in England, had more than thirty foundations, all of which survived until 1538. It has to be seen as a blessed story, an amazing feat for the times., 
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